IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MANNY VILLANUEVA et al.,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY,

Defendant and Appellant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Sixth Appellate District
Case No. H041870
(Santa Clara County Super. Ct. No. 1-10-CV173356)

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 5 2019

Jorge Navarreta Clerk

Deputy



OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Service on the Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.29

SHERNOFF BIDART ECHEVERRIA LLP Michael J. Bidart (SBN 60582) 600 South Indian Hill Boulevard Claremont, California 91711 Phone: (909) 621-4935

Email: mbidart@shernoff.com

jurisdiction to the Commissioner
3.	Exclusive jurisdiction cannot lie with the
	Commissioner because he cannot provide
	an adequate remedy. He has no authority
	to award monetary or class wide relief
4.	The Attorney General has already filed a letter
	with this Court stating the Commissioner's
	position that his jurisdiction over this case is
	shared with the courts, not exclusive
5.	Application: The Commissioner does not have
	exclusive jurisdiction over the action posited
	by the Court in its second question
CONCLUSIO	N
Certification	o of Word Count

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Cases
20th Century Ins. v. Garamendi (1994) Cal.4th 216
Alfred M. Lewis v. Warehousemen Local 542 (1958) 163 Cal.App.2d 771
Baldwin v. State of California (1972) 6 Cal.3d 424
Cole v. Hartford Financial Services (C.D. Cal. 2009) 2009 WL 10675233
Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968 passim
Ellsworth v. U.S. Bank (N.D. Cal. 2012) 908 F.Supp.2d 1063
Elston v. City of Turlock (1985) 38 Cal.3d 227
Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Sup. Court (1992) 2 Cal.4th 377 passim
Fogel v. Farmers (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1403
In re Title Ins. Antitrust Cases (2010) 702 F.Supp.2d 840
Jonathan Neil & Assocs. v. Jones (2004) 33 Cal.4th 917 passim
King v. Meese (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1217
King v. National Gen. Ins. (2015) 129 F.Supp.3d 925

(2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 924
Lachman v. Cabrillo Pacific University (1981) 123 Cal.App.3d 941
Lyons v. First Am. Title (N.D. Cal. 2009) 2009 WL 5195866
MacKay v. Superior Court (21st Century Ins.) (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1427 passim
Manufacturers Life Ins. Co. v. Sup. Ct. (1995) 10 Cal.4th 257
Maryland Casualty Co. v. Fidelity & Casualty Co. (1925) 71 Cal.App. 492
New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. City of Madera (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 298
New York Trust Co. v. Eisner (1921) 256 U.S. 345
Paul v. Virginia (1868) 75 U.S. 168
People v. Jeffers (1987) 43 Cal.3d 984
Quelimane Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26 passim
Saleeby v. State Bar of Calif. (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547
Schwartz v. Poizner (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 592
State Comp. Ins. Fund ("SCIF") v. Superior Court (2001) 24 Cal.4th 930 passim
Shernoff v. Superior Court (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 406

Sierra Club v. San Joaquin Local Agency Form. Com. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 48958
Speegle v. Board of Fire Underwriters (1946) 29 Cal.2d 3424
Stevens v. Superior Court (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 59463
Styne v. Stevens (2001) 26 Cal.4th 4257
Tarkington v. CUIAB (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1494
U.S. v. South-Eastern Underwriters (1944) 322 U.S. 53323
Valley Title Co. v. San Jose Water Co. (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 1490
Wahl v. American Security Ins. Co. (N.D. Cal. 2010) 2010 WL 4509814
Walker v. Allstate Indem. Co. (2004) 77 Cal.App.4th 750 passim
Statutes
15 U.S.C. sec. 1012(b)
Civil Code sec. 352351
Code of Civil Procedure sec. 1085
Code of Civil Procedure sec. 1094.567
Insurance Code sec. 16
Insurance Code sec. 795.7 passim
Insurance Code sec. 1851
Insurance Code sec. 1860.1 passim

Insurance Code sec. 1861.01
Insurance Code sec. 11758 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12340.3
Insurance Code sec. 12340.7
Insurance Code sec. 12401 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12401.1 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12401.2
Insurance Code sec. 12401.7
Insurance Code sec. 12401.71
Insurance Code sec. 12401.8
Insurance Code sec. 12414.13 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12414.15
Insurance Code sec. 12414.16
Insurance Code sec. 12414.17
Insurance Code sec. 12414.19
Insurance Code sec. 12414.25
Insurance Code sec. 12414.26 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12414.27 passim
Insurance Code sec. 12921 65, 65
Insurance Code sec. 12921.9
Insurance Code sec. 12928.6
Other Authorities
3B Sutherland Statutes & Statutory Construction (8th ed. 2018) . 21, 44

Asimow, et el., California Practice Guide: Administrative Law (Rutter 2018)	
Blacks Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009) 37	, 47
Riehle, et al., Cal. Antitrust & UCL (Matthew Bender 2016)	. 44
Uri. 17 Real Estate L.J. 313 (1989)	. 28

THE COURT'S SPECIFICATION OF ISSUES

(1) Insurance Code section 12414.26:

"No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5 (commencing with Section 12401) or Article 5.7 (commencing with Section 12402) of this chapter shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance."

The Court asks: does this statute provide immunity to an underwritten title company for charging consumers for services for which there have been no rate filings with the Insurance Commissioner? The answer is NO, as we explain below in our Discussion, Part 1 (Section 12414.26).

The Court asks: by charging unfiled rates, did Fidelity act "pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5"? The answer, again, is **NO**, as we also explain in Part 1.

(2) Jurisdiction of the Insurance Commissioner:

The Court asks: does the Insurance Commissioner have exclusive jurisdiction over any action against an underwritten title company for services charged to the consumer, but not disclosed to the Department of Insurance? The answer is **NO**, as we explain in our Discussion, Part 2.

INTRODUCTION 1

Respondent Fidelity National is a title company wholly owned by a title insurer. By statutory definition, title companies like Fidelity are participants in "the business of title insurance" just as title insurers are. (Ins. Code sec. 12340.3(c).) Their rates are therefore regulated just like those of insurers. As with title insurers (and most other insurers), the Insurance Code requires title companies to file their rates with the Insurance Commissioner before charging them to the public, and authorizes them to charge *only* in accordance with these rate filings (except in unusual circumstances not applicable here). (Secs. 12401.1, 12401.7, 12401.7, 12401.8, 12414.27; see also, Opinion, 19.)

The trial court found, and the court below affirmed, that Fidelity had charged class members rates it had not filed with the Commissioner and that this violated multiple sections of the Insurance Code. (Opinion, 38, 48.)

However, the court below held that the UCL and common law breach of fiduciary duty claims were barred by the statutory immunity of Insurance Code sec. 12414.26. (Opinion, 38, 48-49.) The court also noted that the class claims "fall within the exclusive original jurisdiction of the Insurance Commissioner." (Opinion, 42, 49.)

The Insurance Commissioner strongly disagrees with the court

Matters of Form: The Insurance Code is cited as "the Code." All statutory references are to the Code unless otherwise noted. AA means Appellants' Appendix. RA mean Respondent's Appendix. The Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. C. §§ 17200 et seq. is cited as "UCL." The McBride-Grunsky Insurance Regulatory Act of 1947 is cited as "McBride-Grunsky" or "the McBride Act."

below, both as to his jurisdiction and as to statutory immunity. The Attorney General, on behalf of the Commissioner, stated the Commissioner's views in a letter to this Court in support of review:

"[T]he court of appeal erred in barring plaintiff's UCL claims based on concepts of primary and/or exclusive jurisdiction. The regulation and administrative enforcement of title insurance is governed by California insurance law that does not preclude private UCL claims for unfiled and unapproved rates such as those at issue here. UCL actions in the circumstances of this case serve an important purpose that complement, and do not conflict with, the Department's regulatory and enforcement duties and responsibilities set out in the Insurance Code."

(Letter from Xavier Becerra, Attorney General, State of California, d. Nov. 19, 2018, at p. 3, Attachment 3 hereto.)

As to statutory immunity, the Attorney General has similarly advised this Court that the Commissioner is in full agreement with Petitioners: "The court of appeal erred in holding that plaintiff's Unfair Competition Law (UCL) claims were barred by the safe harbor for antitrust violations in Insurance Code section 12414.26." (Id. at 1.)

If the opinion below is affirmed, for the first time, consumers overcharged by unlawful rates will have no meaningful remedy by which they can be made whole. The Commissioner cannot order restitution or any classwide relief, and the courts will be closed. This is not what the Legislature intended.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This certified class action concerns Fidelity's charges for two title related services, delivery of documents and drawing up deeds. The class contended that these charges were not in accordance with Fidelity's rate filings and so were unlawful.

As to the delivery service charges, the class contended first that there was simply no rate filed for this service. Alternatively, the class contended that Fidelity's filed "base rate," which it had also charged the class, was for bundled services that included deliveries. Under this theory, the delivery charges exceeded the filed rate. This required the trial court to interpret what services were covered by the "base rate."

As to the charges for deed drawing, the class also contended, first, that no rate had been filed. (AA 433:30-31; Opinion, 10, 38.) Fidelity countered that during some of the time when it charged for the "draw deed" service, Fidelity had a rate on file for a service designated "document preparation." (Opinion, 13.) Fidelity contended that this designation in its rate filing covered the deed service. This, too, required judicial interpretation to resolve. (Opinion, 37.)

The class pursued a *common law* cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty and a *statutory* cause of action for violation of the Unfair Competition Law, among others. The trial court dismissed breach of fiduciary duty and the class appealed. (Opinion, 9-10.)

A bench trial was held on the UCL statutory action. The trial court found that "Fidelity violated the law by charging for the service of delivery because the rate filings did not include a charge for the service

of delivery." (AA 1413:3-4.) In particular, the trial court found Fidelity had violated Section 12414.27, which provides: "no. . . underwritten title company. . . shall charge for any title policy or service in connection with the business of title insurance, except in accordance with rate filings which have become effective pursuant to Article 5.5."

After an exhaustive, 15 page analysis (AA 1397-1413), the trial court (correctly) found that "[t]he plain language of section 12414.27 broadly prohibits a charge for 'any' service that does not match the rate filings" and that the statute is "unambiguous." (AA 1401:3-5, 1405:1.)

As to deed drawing, the trial court interpreted Fidelity's "document preparation" rate filing as including that service. (AA 1416:10-22.) It therefore found Fidelity was authorized under Article 5.5 to charge for deed drawing during the times that rate was effective. (AA 1427:3-8.) However, during the "gap" time frame when the document preparation rate filing was *not* in effect, "charging for drawing a deed was unlawful" under Section 12414.27. (AA 1413:9-12, 1415:12-13.)

The trial court correctly rejected Fidelity's claim of immunity under Sec. 12414.26, focusing on just one of its several requirements:

"Section 12414.26 confers immunity for an 'act done, action taken, or agreement made <u>pursuant to the authority conferred</u>

<u>by Article 5.5</u>. . . . 'Section 12414.26 does not apply because

Article 5.5 did <u>not authorize</u> the unlawful charges. Nothing in

Article 5.5 authorizes the charges for a service other than in

accordance with rate filings."

(Opinion, 22.)

The trial court entered judgment in favor of the class. (*Id.* at 14.) Both sides appealed.

THE OPINION BELOW

The court below reversed the trial court, despite agreeing that Fidelity charged class members unlawfully – by violating at least *three separate sections* of Article 5.5. (Opinion, 38.) Breaking with all precedent, the court expanded the McBride-Grunsky immunity of Section 12414.26 to bar all civil suits – statutory and common law – challenging any unlawful conduct "related to ratemaking" (Opinion, 36). It expanded immunity to bar judicial interpretation of rates. (Opinon, 37.) It even extended immunity to the charging of rates "that have neither been approved nor accepted by the Insurance Commissioner." (Opinion, 25.)

To reach its result, the court offered a baffling syllogism:

"Fidelity <u>failed to comply</u> with sections 12401.1, 12401.2, and 12401.7, all of which are in Article 5.5. In our view, this conduct constitutes acts done <u>pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5. Thus</u>, the claims . . . are barred by the section 12414.26 immunity."

(Opinion, 38, emph. added)

The court left us to guess how a "failure to comply" with a statute is an act done "pursuant to the authority conferred by" that

statute. The court repeated this reasoning in its conclusion. (Opinion, 48.)

Further, the court held that the Commissioner has "exclusive original jurisdiction" over plaintiff's claims. (Opinion, 39-42, emph. added.) For this, the court offered no authority, and no specific language granting exclusive jurisdiction to the Commissioner.

On this issue, the court below ignored this Court's landmark decision in *Farmers Ins. v. Sup. Ct.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 377, and subsequent opinions on this issue.

DISCUSSION

We divide our discussion into two parts, one for each issue specified by the Court. Within these, we identify and discuss certain included issues not specifically identified by the Court, but which we respectfully believe will assist the Court in rendering its decision. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.520(b)(3).) Having carefully reviewed this Court's questions, and before turning directly to them, we offer a very important point of clarification. For most lines of insurance, the terms "charge" and "rate" are not at all synonymous. But for title companies, they *are*.

The term "rate" is statutorily defined to mean "the charge . . . to the public," with a few exceptions not applicable here. (Sec. 12340.7.)

Since "rate" and "charge to the public" are synonyms, any charge to the public that was not filed with the Commissioner is an unfiled rate.

Sometimes, an unfiled rate is charged where there is no rate for the service on file at all. Sometimes, an unfiled rate is charged where there *is* a rate on file for the service, but the filed rate was not the one actually charged; instead, a higher rate was charged for that service.

In *both* cases, the rate charged is *unfiled*. The statutory scheme recognizes no difference between the two. Both are equally unauthorized. They violate identical code sections: 12414.27, 12401.1, 12401.7.

ISSUE ONE: Section 12414.26 Does Not Immunize Fidelity.

A. In construing Section 12414.26, the objective is to effectuate its intended purpose.

The "fundamental rule" of statutory construction is to "ascertain the intent of the Legislature" so as to effectuate the "purpose" of the law. (*Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co.* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 976.)

B. Section 12414.26 is the last enacted of four nearly identical McBride-Grunsky immunity statutes. Courts afford them a consistent, harmonious construction.

Section 12414.26 is one of four essentially identical provisions modeled on the immunity section of the 1947 McBride-Grunsky Act. The original (§ 1860.1) applied to all but seven classes of insurance. Thereafter, the Legislature extended McBride-Grunsky immunity to three additional classes: workers compensation (§ 11758, added 1951), senior citizen health (§ 795.7, added 1963), and title (§12414.26, added 1973).

§ 1860.1 (1947), applicable to property & casualty insurance, part of the McBride-Grunsky Act, model for the others:

"No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by this chapter shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance."

§ 11758 (1951), applicable to workers compensation insurance:

"No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by this article shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance."

§ 795.7 (1963), applicable to senior citizen health insurance:

"No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by this article shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance."

§ 12414.26 (1973), applicable to title, at issue here:

"No act done, action taken, or agreement made pursuant to the authority conferred by Article 5.5 (commencing with Section 12401) or Article 5.7 (commencing with Section 12402) of this chapter) shall constitute a violation of or grounds for prosecution or civil proceedings under any other law of this state heretofore or hereafter enacted which does not specifically refer to insurance."

Courts consider these McBride-Grunsky style immunity statutes to be essentially identical ("virtually identical" – *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Sup. Ct.* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 930, 938-939 ("*SCIF*"); "twins" – *Donabedian, supra*, at 990). Therefore, interpretation is governed by these canons:

- "similar statutes should be construed in light of one another." (Krumme v. Mercury Ins. (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 924, 943 fn. 6.)
- "Identical words used in... a similar statute usually have the same meaning." (3B Sutherland Statutes and Statutory
 Construction (8th ed. 2018), § 72:4, Insurance.)
- "[A]II statutes in an insurance code are intended to be part of a uniform system of regulation and are in pari materia, and are construed together to produce a harmonious statutory scheme." (Id., emph. added.)

Accordingly, when construing and applying one of the McBride-Grunsky immunity statutes, a court will look to how the others have been construed, with the goal of establishing one consistent, harmonious construction. Thus, when this Court construed Section 11758 (workers compensation), it reviewed decisions interpreting Section 1860.1 (property & casualty). (*SCIF*, *supra*, at 941-942, discussing *Walker v. Allstate* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 750.)

Similarly, when considering how to apply Section 1860.1, the Donabedian court reviewed and harmonized this Court's constructions of Section 11758 and Section 12414.26. (*Donabedian, supra*, at 978, 987-990.) The *Walker* court, construing Section 1860.1, reviewed this Court's *Quelimane* Section 12414.26 decision. (*Walker*, 77 Cal.App.4th at 758, 759.) And the court below (mis)analyzed *Walker* (construing Sec. 1860.1), *SCIF* (construing Sec. 11758), *Quelimane* (construing Sec. 12414.26), and others – in its failed attempt at consistent construction.

In sum, Section 12414.26 must receive the same restrictive construction afforded its identical siblings, Sections 1860.1 and 11758. This is particularly so because "immunity statutes are to be strictly construed." (New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. City of Madera (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 298, 305; accord, Baldwin v. State of California (1972) 6 Cal.3d 424, 435-437; Valley Title Co. v. San Jose Water Co. (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 1490, 1503.)

C. The Legislature did not intend to immunize the unilateral misconduct of an individual company. Immunity is limited to concerted actions.

Courts may consider the "historical circumstances" of an enactment in determining the Legislature's intent. (*People v. Jeffers* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 984, 993.) As Justice Holmes observed, "a page of history is worth a volume of logic." (*New York Trust Co. v. Eisner* (1921) 256 U.S. 345, 349.)

1. With the passage of the McCarran-Ferguson Act in 1945, the insurance industry needed to implement minimalistic state regulation to obtain federal antitrust immunity.

In 1868, the U.S. Supreme Court held that insurers were immune from federal regulation. (*Paul v. Virginia* (1868) 75 U.S. 168.) From 1890 through 1914, Congress passed three antitrust acts, from which insurers, under *Paul*, were immune. Antitrust immunity was (and remains) very important to the industry, which has historically felt its business is "unusual" in requiring "concert of action" so that "adequate statistical information" is available "to promulgate rates," i.e., to "pool experience for rate making purposes." (*SCIF*, *supra*, 24 Cal.4th at 939.) Absent *Paul* immunity, such activity would have subjected insurers to potential liability under the federal antitrust statutes.

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