FILED

GUL 16 2019

S252035

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MANNY VILLANUEVA ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

U.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. H041870 | SANTA CLARA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. CV173356

ANSWER BRIEF

CALIFORNIA APPELLATE LAW GROUP LLP

Ben Feuer* (No. 247502)
Julia Partridge (No. 83926)
96 Jessie Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
TEL: (415) 649-6700 • FAX: (415) 726-2527
ben.feuer@calapplaw.com | julia.partridge@calapplaw.com

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

B. The extension of McBride-Grunsky style immunity to title insurers

Title insurance was one of the forms of insurance expressly exempted from the McBride-Grunsky legislation. But in 1973, the Legislature substantially revised chapter 1 of part 6 of division 2 of the Insurance Code, to make "title insurance subject to the same rate regulation provisions applicable to property and casualty insurers," in other words, the forms of insurance regulated by the McBride-Grunsky Act. (Dept. of Finance, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1293 (1973-1974 Reg. Sess.).)

As of 1973, then, rates and ratemaking in the title insurance industry have been regulated and placed under the Commissioner's control (art. 5.5, §§ 12401 et seq.), just as rates and ratemaking conduct in other insurance industries were already under the Commissioner's control. The Legislature created an administrative scheme for adjudicating rate disputes comparable to that established by the McBride-Grunsky Act (art. 6.7, §§ 12414.13 et seq.), conferring on the Commissioner the power to take

⁹ Title insurance differs from other types of insurance because of its unique nature, which involves less risk than other types of insurance. (*Quelimane*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 41.)

remedial measures if an insurer's "rate, rating plan or rating system . . . does not comply with the requirements and standards of Article 5.5."

(§§ 12414.14, 12414.16.) A consumer's remedy for an insurer's failure to comply with Article 5.5 is to file an administrative challenge with the Commissioner (§ 12414.13), which is subject to judicial review (§ 12414.19). Insurers have the power to avoid penalties by correcting a noncompliance.

(§§ 12414.14-12414.15.) The penalties and remedies for willful noncompliance are specified, and the Commissioner's rulings or orders are subject to judicial review. (§§ 12414.16-12414.17, 12414.19.)

And finally, after 1973, companies engaged in the business of title insurance have the same immunity from civil suits challenging rates and ratemaking activity granted by the McBride-Grunsky to other insurers (§ 12414.26), and the administration and enforcement of the provisions governing rates and ratemaking activity, are to be "governed solely by the provisions of this chapter." (§ 12414.29.)

In short, just as the history of the McBride-Grunsky Act compels the conclusion that the Legislature intended the immunity in that act to extend broadly to all claims that an insurer had failed to comply with the rate and ratemaking obligations created and imposed by the act, so too the history of the 1973 revisions to the laws governing title insurance compel the conclusion that the Legislature meant the same broad immunity to extend to claims such as Plaintiffs make here: that Fidelity failed to comply with Article 5.5 by charging a rate alleged to be unlisted on the schedule of rates.

C. Proposition 103

Dissatisfaction with the regulation of some forms of insurance led to Proposition 103, which was passed in 1988 to make the McBride-Grunsky statutes more friendly to consumers by making "numerous fundamental changes in the regulation of automobile and other types of insurance." (Calfarm Ins. Co. v. Deukmejian (1989) 48 Cal.3d 805, 812.)

But Proposition 103 expressly did not apply to title insurance. (Id. at p. 812, fn. 1; §§ 1851 [the provisions regarding rate approval "shall apply to all insurance on risks or on operations in this state, except: [seven classes of insurance, including] Title insurance"], 1861.05.) What Proposition 103 changed, therefore, is relevant to an understanding of

the pre-Proposition 103 law that continues to govern title insurance.

Among the changes Proposition 103 made to the law regulating rates and ratemaking of casualty insurance was the addition of section 1861.03, subdivision (a), which made the business of insurance subject to laws such as the UCL: "The business of insurance shall be subject to the laws of California applicable to any other business, including, but not limited to, the civil rights laws . . . , and the antitrust and unfair business practices laws . . . of the Business and Professions Code " There would have been no reason for such a provision if, as Plaintiffs insist, the business of insurance was already subject to the laws of California that generally apply to any business. (See City of Huntington Beach v. Board of Administration (1992) 4 Cal.4th 462, 468 ["[L]egislation must be construed as a whole while avoiding an interpretation which renders any of its language surplusage."].)

Proposition 103 also added section 1861.10, subdivision (a), which gave the public the power to enforce the initiative: "Any person may initiate or intervene in any proceeding permitted or established

pursuant to this chapter, challenge any action of the commissioner under this article, and enforce any provision of this article." The proceedings "permitted or established pursuant to this chapter" include both the pre-existing administrative scheme for addressing claims by "[a]ny person aggrieved by any rate charged, rating plan, rating system . . . ,"
(§ 1858) and newly added proceedings requiring the Commissioner to approve all rates before they might take effect and to conduct hearings for the purpose of determining whether a rate change application should be approved (§ 1861.05). 10

By adding this right to intervene, the "drafters sought to 'enable consumers to permanently unite to fight against insurance abuse'" (State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Garamendi (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1029, 1045.) The proponents of Proposition 103 asserted that "a permanent, independent

¹⁰ Subdivision (b) of section 1861.10 added: "The commissioner or a court shall award reasonable advocacy and witness fees and expenses to any person who demonstrates that (1) the person represents the interests of consumers, and, (2) that he or she has made a substantial contribution to the adoption of any order, regulation, or decision by the commissioner or a court. Where such advocacy occurs in response to a rate application, the award shall be paid by the applicant."

consumer watchdog system will champion the interest of insurance consumers." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1988) argument in favor of Prop. 103, p. 100.) Again, there would have been no reason to add section 1861.10, subdivisions (a) and (b), if the public already had the power to seek redress for rate grievances by some means other than through the administrative process.

Proposition 103 changed then-existing law by making rates and ratemaking activities subject to the laws of California that apply to other businesses. But Proposition 103, by its express and unambiguous terms, does not apply to title insurance. The statutes regulating title insurance should not be judicially rewritten to give them the same effect as Proposition 103, given that title insurance was expressly excluded from the scope of the initiative.

- III. The Commissioner has exclusive jurisdiction over claims that an underwritten title company charged for a service that was not disclosed in advance to the Department of Insurance
 - A. The statutory scheme supports the Commissioner's exclusive jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' claims

The Commissioner is charged with determining whether a rate and any accompanying fees charged are proper. The term "rate" is broadly defined as "the charge or charges . . . made to the public by a title insurer, an underwritten title company or a controlled escrow company, for all services it performs in transacting the business of title insurance." (§ 12340.7.) But the "rate" that a regulated title entity must file with the Commissioner excludes "miscellaneous charges," which are defined as "conveyancing fees, notary fees, inspection fees, tax service contract fees and such other fees as the commissioner by regulation may prescribe." (Ibid., italics added.) The Commissioner, therefore, has the authority to determine what type of fees must be included in the rate that must be filed and to decide whether a particular fee is better characterized as a "miscellaneous charge" that does not have to be included in a rate.

Similarly, the Insurance Code grants the Commissioner the authority to determine whether a rate charged complies with Article 5.5. A "person aggrieved by any rate charged" is permitted to file a complaint and request a hearing with the Commissioner but first must ask the regulated title entity in writing to review the manner in which the rate was charged. (§ 12414.13.)¹¹ If the Commissioner determines the rate charged "does not comply with the requirements and standards of Article 5.5" (but the noncompliance is not willful), the Commissioner shall give the company a "reasonable time" to correct the noncompliance. (§ 12414.14.)

If the noncompliance is not corrected (or if the noncompliance is willful), the Commissioner may

person aggrieved by any rate charged . . . may request such person or entity to review the manner in which the rate . . . has been applied Any person aggrieved [by the response to the request] . . . may file a written complaint and request for hearing with the commissioner" (Italics added.) Plaintiffs contend that the word "may" in the section signals that the administrative scheme is not exclusive. (AOB 58.) This is an impossibly tortured reading. In context, the word "may" means only that a person filing a grievance is permitted to pursue an administrative remedy; it does not mean that such a person is also permitted to seek relief through court action.

hold a public hearing and prohibit further use of the rate or, if the noncompliance was willful, suspend or revoke the certificate of authority of the regulated title entity. (§§ 12414.15-12414.16.) The Commissioner may require payment of fees or restitution (see *post* section III.C), and decisions are subject to judicial review (§ 12414.19).

In this case, for example, Fidelity believed the Insurance Code did not require it to file rates for delivery fees it collected from its customers and passed through to third-party delivery service providers. The relevant statute, section 12340.7, requires rate filings only for services it "performs," and Fidelity understood that to exclude services "perform[ed]" by others for which it simply collects fees and passes them on. The Legislature reasonably determined that the Commissioner is in the best position to balance the needs of the title insurance industry against the needs of the public on nuanced questions such as this one, decide questions like whether collecting such "pass-through" fees is tantamount to "perform[ing]" those services within the meaning of the Insurance Code (§ 12340.7), and redress any mistake.

This court long has recognized that "the regulation of rates charged by title insurers and title companies . . . has traditionally commanded administrative expertise" (Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Great Western Financial Corp. (1968) 69 Cal.2d 305, 323, superseded by statute on other grounds; State Compensation Ins. Fund v. Superior Court (2001) 24 Cal.4th 930, 943 (SCIF) ["the calculation of insurance premiums and interpretation of SCIF's reporting requirements . . . is best suited to the administrative process"].) For that reason, "a court is not the appropriate initial arbiter of factors involved in insurance costs." (Chicago Title Ins., at p. 323.)

Manufacturers Life Ins. Co. v. Superior Court

(1995) 10 Cal.4th 257, 272, described Chicago Title

Ins. as saying "that sections of the Insurance

Code . . . superseded . . . unfair competition laws

insofar as they might apply to conduct related to rates

and ratemaking which are governed by specific

provisions of the Insurance Code," and those

provisions in turn "authorize some practices and as to
others gave the Insurance Commissioner authority to
determine the propriety of the conduct." (Original
italics.) Quelimane held that "the Insurance Code

does not displace the UCL except as to title company activities related to rate setting." (19 Cal.4th at p. 33.)

The Legislature would not have directed an insured to first seek informal resolution of a complaint about rates and fees before complaining to the Commissioner, nor would have authorized the Commissioner to deny a request for a hearing, if the insured could simply ignore these administrative procedures and file a civil suit. Nor would the Legislature have specified the relief and penalties available for violations of the chapter in the administrative process while at the same time allowing inconsistent awards of penalties and damages by means of a civil suit brought under "other state law."

Any doubt that the Commissioner's jurisdiction over the administration and enforcement of Article 5.5 is exclusive is put to rest by section 12414.29, which provides that "no other law relating to insurance and no other provisions in this code heretofore or hereafter enacted shall apply to or be construed as supplementing or modifying the provisions of such articles unless such other law or

other provision expressly so provides and specifically refers to the sections of such articles which it intends to supplement or modify."

In other words, section 12414.26 immunizes regulated title entities from actions brought under other state law, and section 12414.29 both immunizes them from other provisions of the Insurance Code and limits the means of enforcing Article 5.5 to the administrative scheme – the sole method of enforcement included in the chapter.

Thus, the Commissioner has exclusive jurisdiction to determine what fees must be included in the rate an underwritten title company must file and to determine whether the company has complied with the rate-filing requirement. A plaintiff may bring an administrative challenge to a rate charged and may seek judicial review of an adverse decision by the Commissioner, but section 12414.26 bars a plaintiff from bringing a civil action challenging the validity of a rate charged by an underwritten title company.

B. Plaintiffs' attempt to invoke the doctrine of primary jurisdiction is misplaced because that doctrine is irrelevant

The doctrine of "primary jurisdiction" "'applies where a claim is originally cognizable in the courts'" and arises "'whenever enforcement of the claim requires the resolution of issues which, under a regulatory scheme, have been placed within the special competence of an administrative body; in such a case the judicial process is suspended pending referral of such issues to the administrative body for its views.'" (Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Superior Court (1992) 2 Cal.4th 377, 390, original italics.)

The doctrine of primary jurisdiction does not apply here because, for all the reasons previously discussed, Plaintiffs' claim is not originally cognizable in the courts. Section 12414.26's immunity prohibits resolving the claim by way of court action, and section 12414.29 mandates that the administration and enforcement of Article 5.5 "shall be governed solely by the provisions" of the chapter.

Plaintiffs nonetheless argue that *Farmers Ins*. establishes that the Commissioner's jurisdiction over their claim is at the most primary, not exclusive. Not so.

Farmers Ins. was a suit brought by the Attorney General against a variety of automobile insurers under post-Proposition 103 law, which "repealed various sections [of the McBride-Grunsky Act] that had previously exempted the business of insurance from this state's antitrust laws." (Farmers Ins., supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 385.) Proposition 103 "added section 1861.03, subdivision (a), which provides: 'The business of insurance shall be subject to the laws of California applicable to any other business, including, but not limited to, . . . the antitrust and unfair business practice laws '" (Id. at p. 386.)

The complaint in Farmers Ins. stated two causes of action. The first alleged that the insurers had violated sections of the Insurance Code. The second alleged that this same conduct had violated the Unfair Practices Act (UPA) (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17000 et. seq.). The insurers demurred to both causes of action, arguing that the suit was precluded by the failure to exhaust administrative remedies. (Farmers Ins., supra, 2 Cal.4th at pp. 381-382.)

This court agreed that the first cause of action alleging violations of the Insurance Code must be

dismissed because the plaintiffs had failed to exhaust their administrative remedies. Citing section 1860.2, on which section 12414.29 was modeled, the court explained, "Pursuant to the Insurance Code, the People's claims under that code are exclusively the province of the Insurance Commissioner." (Farmers Ins., supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 382, fn. 1.)

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